
 

 
Planning Board – December 18, 2017, 6:30PM 

City Hall Council Chambers – 3 Washington Street, 2nd floor 
 

AGENDA 
I. Call to Order – Roll Call 
 
II. Minutes of Previous Meeting – November 27, 2017 Meeting 
 
III. Continued Public Hearings 

1. SPR-11-17 – Water & Grove Streets – Site Plan – Applicant Wendy Pelletier of Cardinal 
Surveying & Land Planning, on behalf owners, Jeanette Wright and Michael Lynch, proposes 
a commercial parking lot.  The site is 4,635 SF in size and located in the High Density 
Zoning District (TMP# 028-03-011). The Applicant is requesting a Waiver from Development 
Standard #8 “Screening.” 

 
2. SPR-13-17 – Emerald Street Substation – Site Plan – Applicant VHB on behalf owner Public 

Service of NH dba Eversource proposes to rebuild the existing substation at the west end of 
Emerald Street.  A Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit Application is included in 
this submission (SWP-CUP-2017-01).  The site is 2.52 acres in size and located in the 
Commerce & SEED Zoning Districts (TMP# 047-03-009). The Applicant is requesting a 
waiver from Planning Board Development Standard #19, “Architecture and Visual 
Appearance.” 

 
IV. Public Hearings 

1. SPR-967, Modification 8i – Site Plan – Property owner Cypress Street Development, LLC c/o 
Monadnock Economic Development Corporation is proposing a 6,400 SF retail/office 
expansion of the 12,500 SF Monadnock Food Co-Op located on TMP# 023-04-027.800 (1.56 
acres) at 34, #E Cypress Street in Keene, NH onto the adjacent 0.3287 acre parcel, TMP# 
023-04-027.1100. The project will include the addition of eleven parking spaces and is located 
in the Central Business Zoning District.  These properties are part of the larger Railroad Street 
Condominium development. The applicant is requesting a waiver from Development Standard 
#12: Traffic. 

 
V. New Business 
 
VI. Director Reports 

Discussion:  Co-Op Withdrawal of Temporary Parking Application 
 
VII. Upcoming Dates of Interest – January 2018 

Planning Board Meeting – January 25, 6:30 PM 
Planning Board Steering Committee – January 9, 12:00 PM 
Joint PB/PLD Committee – Monday, January 8, 6:30 PM 
Planning Board Site Visits – January 17, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 

Page 1 of 47



THIS PAGE IS INTENDED TO BE BLANK. 

Page 2 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 1 of 10 

CITY OF KEENE 

NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 

PLANNING BOARD 

MEETING MINUTES 

 
Monday, November 27, 2017 6:30 PM Council Chambers 

 

Members Present 

Gary Spykman, Chairman  

Douglas Barrett, Vice-Chair 

Andrew Bohannon 

Martha Landry 

George Hansel 

Pamela Russell Slack 

Chris Cusack 

Nathaniel Stout 

 

Members Not Present: 

Mayor Kendall Lane 

Tammy Adams Alternate 

David Webb Alternate 

 

Staff: 

Planning/ACM Director Rhett Lamb 

Planner Michele Chalice 

Planner Tara Kessler 

I. Call to order – Roll Call 

Chair Spykman called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. 

 

II. Minutes of previous meeting – October 23, 2017 

A motion was made by Councilor George Hansel to accept the October 23, 2017 meeting minutes. The 

motion was seconded by Pamela Russell Slack and was unanimously approved.  

 

  III. Continued Public Hearing 

1. SPR-11-17 – Water & Grove Streets – Site Plan – Applicant Wendy Pelletier of Cardinal 

Surveying & Land Planning, on behalf owners, Jeanette Wright and Michael Lynch, proposes a 

commercial parking lot.  The site is 4,635 SF in size and located in the High Density Zoning District 

(TMP# 028-03-011). The Applicant is requesting a Waiver from Development Standard #8 

“Screening.” 

 

A. Public Hearing 

Applicant’s representative Wendy Pelletier of Cardinal Surveying and Land Planning addressed the 

Board first. Ms. Pelletier stated this has been an existing parking lot and the applicant is asking that it 

be continued to be used as a parking lot. Ms. Pelletier stated it is mis-labeled as commercial but noted 

the only people who would be parking here are tenants who live in the area. There are going to be 11 

spaces and planters will be added to the lot. The lot is 100% paved and the applicant does not plan on 

changing that. There will be some striping added to delineate the spaces. A post and chain fence will 

be added. The Police Department asked that a solid fence not be added for security concerns and for 

graffiti issues. No other improvements are being proposed. With respect to lighting, the average 

reading in the middle of the site is 0.11 foot candles, 0 foot candles at one corner and 0.25 foot candles 

at the opposite corner. There are two existing curb cuts but one of the planters will block one of those 

curb cuts, which would make the curb cut on Grove Street just an exit only as per request of 

engineering staff. This concluded Ms. Pelletier’s presentation. 

 

Chair Spykman questioned Ms. Pelletier’s characterization of this site as a non-commerical parking 

lot.  He stated that he understood these spaces were going to be rented or leased, which would make it 

Page 3 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 2 of 10 

a commercial enterprise. Ms. Pelletier stated the use of these spaces would be connected to the 

residences in the area and they will not be connected to any business downtown or elsewhere.  

 

Chair Spykman stated the Board has also not received a clear answer as to why this site cannot be 

properly landscaped. The Chair noted the back corner which has zero foot candles does not meet the 

Board’s lighting standard. Ms. Pelletier referred to a rendering of a solar light which would be 

mounted on the pole to provide lighting for this corner. These lights could also be on sensors. As far as 

planters, she noted it is not unusual to locate planters on concrete. The Chair did not feel this would 

meet the Board’s standards. Ms. Pelletier stated these planters will be anchored into the pavement so 

they can’t be moved around; this is so that paving does not need to be dug up. As far as these planters 

having issues with snow plowing, she felt this would be an issue, regardless of what is planted on this 

site. She felt the planters will be off the ground so there is a chance they won’t be affected by the salt. 

 

Staff comments were next. Planner Tara Kessler addressed the Board and stated staff had not received 

any changes to the plan until this afternoon, so staff has not had sufficient time to provide comments 

on these recently submitted materials. The concerns from the previous Planning Board meeting remain 

the same. With respect to the lighting, the applicant’s photometric plan shows that the site does not 

meet the Planning Board lighting standard, which is an average of 0.5 foot candles for a site such as 

this. Ms. Kessler stated the applicant could ask for a waiver from this standard, but this waiver request 

would need to be noticed ten days in advance of the meeting, hence a waiver from the lighting standard 

cannot be granted if it was requested this evening.  

 

With respect to the planters, there was concern from staff as to the planters not being connected to the 

ground. If the planters do not connect with the earth/soil underneath, it is staff’s opinion that this does 

not qualify as landscaping per the Development Standards.  

 

With respect to screening, the applicant has requested a waiver.  The applicant is proposing a metal 

post and chain between this site and the abutters to the west and south. This post and chain may 

provide a partial barrier to prevent snow from piling on adjacent lots, but it would not screen the glare 

from vehicle headlights.  Ms. Kessler stated the applicant has requested a waiver from this screening 

standard and referred to the waiver criteria as follows: 

a) That granting the waiver will not be contrary to the spirit and intent of these Regulations; 

b) That granting the waiver will not increase the potential for creating adverse impacts to abutters, 

the community or the environment; and 

c) That granting the waiver has not been shown to diminish the property values of abutting 

properties. 

d) Consideration will also be given to whether strict conformity with the regulations or Development 

Standards would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant. 

 

Ms. Kessler noted the Board did receive a letter from an abutter expressing concern with headlights 

shining onto their property (abutter to the south). This concern was discussed by the Board at the last 

meeting and no changes have been made to the plan since that time.  

Ms. Kessler stated staff recommends continuing this public hearing to the December meeting so the 

applicant could try to meet the Board’s standards if the applicant was willing to request an extension of 

the Board’s 65-day decision deadline, which expires between now and the next meeting. Mr. Lamb 

explained the term “by mutual agreement,” which is the method the Board has used in the past 

whereby the applicant requests an extension of this decision deadline either in written form or provides 

a clear indication at the meeting that the applicant is requesting this extension (as long as the record 

indicates same).  

 

Page 4 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 3 of 10 

The Chair asked for public comment. The Chairman referred to a letters included in the Board’s 

packet, one from Tim Symonds of Tim Holdings LLC and the other from Greenwald Realty. With no 

further comment from the public, the Chairman closed the public hearing. 

 

Councilor Hansel stated nothing has changed on this plan since the last time the applicant was before 

the Board, and because he was not inclined to approve it the last time, he encourages the applicant 

permit the Board to continue this item so that the outstanding items the Board had concerns about 

could be appropriately addressed. Mr. Stout agreed with Councilor Hansel.  

 

The Chair reopened the public hearing to hear from the applicant’s representative.  

Ms. Pelletier requested an extension of the Planning Board’s 65-day decision deadline to December 18, 

2017. The Chair closed the public hearing again. 

 

B.   Board Discussion and Action  

A motion was made by Councilor George Hansel that the Planning Board grant the request from 

Wendy Pelletier of Cardinal Land Surveying to extend the Planning Board’s 65-day decision deadline 

for SPR 11-17 to December 18, 2017 and to continue the public hearing for SPR 11-17 to the 

December 18, 2017 Planning Board meeting. 

 

The motion was seconded by Pamela Russell Slack and was unanimously approved. 

 

2. SPR-13-17 – Emerald Street Substation – Site Plan – Applicant VHB on behalf owner 

Public Service of NH dba Eversource proposes to rebuild the existing substation at the west end of 

Emerald Street.  A Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit Application is included in this 

submission (SWP-CUP-2017-01).  The site is 2.52 acres in size and located in the Commerce & SEED 

Zoning Districts (TMP# 047-03-009). The Applicant is requesting a waiver from Planning Board 

Development Standard #19, “Architecture and Visual Appearance.” 
 

A. Public Hearing 

Mr. David Fenstermacher from VHB addressed the Board first. He indicated the last time the 

outstanding items the applicant Eversource had to address related to meeting the Board’s stormwater 

standard, soil containment and erosion control measures. He indicated one of the first items the 

applicant focused on was the net zero stormwater runoff number and the best way to reduce this 

number was to reduce the size of the footprint. He referred to the square portion of the site on the north 

– this has been brought back 40 feet on either side and the impervious surface has been reduced by 

about 800 square feet. There was a secondary access which was going to be in gravel, this has now 

been changed to reinforced grass which you can drive on but has the feel of grass. These changes now 

meet the net zero stormwater runoff numbers. 

 

The other issue the applicant focused on was the seasonal high water table, these numbers were also 

submitted. As far as the percolation rate, when the size of the footprint was reduced, the need for the 

dry well was no longer necessary but the applicant would like to retain this dry well for an added 

siltation catch benefit. 

 

Mr. Fenstermacher talked about the lot across the street. Eversource has a consultant on board who is 

going to provide a Soil Management Plan. This concluded Mr. Fenstermacher’s presentation. 

 

Vice-Chair Barrett stated his understanding was that the reinforced grass was not necessary to meet the 

net zero stormwater runoff numbers and was more for visual appeal and asked what this would look 

Page 5 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 4 of 10 

like. Mr. Fenstermacher stated they are honeycomb-like structures that allow for grass to grow – they 

are made out of concrete.  

 

The Chair asked for staff comments next. Ms. Chalice addressed the Board and stated what the 

applicant had stated are all positive aspects. The site size has been reduced which has brought the site 

to net zero stormwater runoff which was an initial concern. There is now data to confirm that the water 

table has sufficient depth for stormwater infiltration. And uses for the site across the street have been 

clarified (page 18 has a detailed list). The reason for concern on the adjacent uses is because of the 

proximity of the area of construction material movement to the creek’s embankment. The silt fence 

being proposed only goes to the property corner and does not protect the stream embankment from 

silt/sand runoff to the bridge abutment shown on the photo. The Soil Containment Plan staff requested 

could show protections so that no silt runs off into the creek during storm events.  This Soil 

Containment Plan will need to be approved by the City Engineer. This concluded staff comments. 

 

Chair Spykman stated he had asked about the structure across the street, as to whether some exterior 

work could be done to this building and last month the applicant had indicated this could be addressed.  

Ms. Chalice stated staff had not received any information about this building. Ms. Ashley Ruprecht 

addressed the Chair’s question – She stated the applicant has agreed to replace the plywood window 

openings with brick that would match the Control House. 

 

The Chairman asked for public comment. Mr. Toby Tousley of 499 Washington Street noted this 

project was located in a Commerce Zoning District which would render a utility sub-station a non-

conforming use and because this is an enlargement to a non-conforming use, he asked whether this 

item has been before the Zoning Board of Adjustment for a variance request. He noted Section 102-

210 says that such enlargement must go before the Zoning Board of Adjustment for a variance request 

before it comes before the Planning Board.  Mr. Lamb stated his understanding would be that the 

applicant met with the Zoning Administrator who made a determination that it was not an expansion 

and that therefore, the project did not have to go before the Zoning Board. Chair Spykman stated from 

the Planning Board’s point of view, this issue is not an item under their purview. Mr. Tousley stated 

this matter cannot continue if proper procedure has not been followed. Mr. Lamb reiterated if the 

Zoning Administrator did not determine this was an expansion of a non-conforming use, there is no 

restriction to the Planning Board hearing. On the other hand, if a re-examination of this determination 

is made by the Zoning staff that there has been an enlargement, then the Board cannot act until the 

matter goes before and is granted a variance from the relevant zoning regulation. He added that 

because staff had not heard from the Zoning Administrator, the Board could act on this item. 

 

Mr. Tousley went on to say the Board skipped over the issue of screening last month and stated he had 

requested screening on the eastern side of this site facing his side of the property. He added this area 

used to be industrial but this has all changed now and there are residences in this area now. He did not 

feel it was an unreasonable request to ask for screening and expressed his frustration with the applicant 

not wanting to address this issue with him. He added it had been told to him that slats cannot be added 

but noted Section 8A precludes slats only for dumpster screening. He felt the police not being able to 

see through these slats should not be applicable here. Mr. Tousley stated he wanted some type of 

screening on his side of the site.  

 

Dr. Cusack noted the Board did not ignore the screening issue last month, it was just that the Police 

Department did not want it. However, felt some sort of screening would be necessary. 

 

Mr. Bohannon asked whether the applicant could talk about the screening. Kurt Nelson and Ashley 

Ruprecht addressed the Board. Mr. Nelson stated they have had conversations with the abutter and 

Page 6 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 5 of 10 

would like to address the issue with screening, however, are constrained with what they can do. As far 

as a vegetative screening – this is not possible.  There is no soil or an area where anything can be 

planted. It is also against substation standards to have trees right against the fence which could be 

something people or children could use to climb over. There are plantings however, being proposed for 

the north side. 

 

Mr. Bohannon asked whether something like a windscreen has been thought of for the fence. Mr. 

Nelson stated this is not something they have given any thought to, but referred to the concern the 

Police Department had raised with respect to being able to see into the site which is a concern they 

share as well. However, they were willing to come up with some practical solution.  

 

Vice-Chair Barrett stated there was concern raised last month about a fence causing damage to the 

fence’s foundation due to increased wind load. Mr. Nelson agreed this could be a concern with high 

winds.  

 

Chair Spykman clarified the applicant would be agreeable to screening as long as it met the approval 

of safety officials and was not a structural issue. Ms. Ruprecht agreed and added she had spoken to a 

lieutenant from the Police Department who had indicated any type of obstruction on the eastern side 

would be an issue for them.  

 

Mr. Lamb felt this might be somewhat of a risky condition; there is no fence designer, or a security 

expert present who could advise the Board. Trying to draft a motion based on this idea could be 

difficult. He added if the Board was concerned about this, the applicant could be asked to come back 

with a solution which would have been reviewed by experts. With respect to the security issue, Mr. 

Lamb stated he does not want to minimize the important of safety but the Board has a role to play in 

this and screening cannot be eliminated in all circumstances because of some generalized security issue 

that is undefined. 

 

Mr. Nelson felt a fenced screening is only going to provide a certain amount of screening; there is 

infrastructure that is impossible to screen. He noted however that they were willing to work with the 

abutter on a compromise. 

  

Mr. Tousley stated he was not asking for a very tall fence, just a fence with slats to provide for some 

screening. He stated he also does not understand how a fence built into concrete could blow over. Mr. 

Tousley stated this screening is also for noise. 

. 

Mr. Stout asked Mr. Tousley why this concern was not addressed last month. Mr. Tousley stated a 

week before the last meeting, the applicant sent him plans which he assumed were the plans being 

submitted to the Board showing the slats and assumed this was what was going to be approved and 

because of other obligations he could not be present last month. However, at the meeting, the issue of 

the police objecting was raised and the slats were eliminated. 

 

Ms. Ruprecht stated the slats were shown on the plans that were sent to the applicant and at that time 

did not feel an abutter’s support was necessary for a project’s approval. Once there was objection from 

the Police Department, this item was eliminated from the plan at the last meeting.  

 

Councilor Hansel asked Ms. Ruprecht if the Board asked for the slats to be added back in whether the 

applicant would be in agreement. Ms. Ruprecht stated if the Police Department and the city agree, it 

was agreeable to the applicant. Mr. Stout asked whether any consideration was given to a modified 

version of the slats. Ms. Ruprecht stated this now becomes how much screening a modified version is 

Page 7 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 6 of 10 

going to provide. Mr. Stout felt this is a conclusion the applicant would need to provide. Ms. Ruprecht 

stated they have not looked at any other versions because the police were adamant any type of 

screening on the eastern side would negatively impact security. 

 

Ms. Russell Slack stated she was not sure where the Police Department was coming from and there is 

no-one present to address this issue. She asked whether the applicant has used slats at other sites 

because this was something that was proposed by the applicant. Ms. Ruprecht stated they have a 

similar project in Manchester and the engineer for this site had indicated in most urban areas where 

there is potential for crime, screening is not something that is encouraged. She added it is not that they 

don’t provide screening, but they need city approval for same. Mr. Nelson stated break-ins into 

substations is a common occurrence as well as infrastructure security. Ms. Russell Slack asked how 

long this grid has been at this location. Ms. Ruprecht stated it has been at this location for 60 years. 

Ms. Russell Slack asked whether it has ever been broken into. The answer was a no. 

 

Mr. Tousley stated he would be happy with any type of screening and noted all other locations into this 

site had been screened except from his property. The Chairman closed the public hearing.  

 

Councilor Hansel stated he agrees with the abutter; originally there was discussion about privacy slats 

not a masonry wall and added if Eversource had proposed a masonry wall to locate gear on it, this 

discussion would not be happening. He added only a small section of this site is going to have privacy 

slats and felt the abutter and applicant could come to some type of agreement to locate something on 

the eastern portion. He stated he does not understand how this would inhibit the police from being able 

to see into this site.  

 

Mr. Stout stated he agrees with Councilor Hansel and what would have been helpful for tonight would 

have been some screening alternatives. Vice-Chair Barrett noted the abutter is not asking for the entire 

portion to be screened but just a small portion. He added he also agrees with Eversource that a fence is 

not going to completely provide a screening from these large structures. 

 

Councilor Hansel stated he is not comfortable approving this application tonight.  

 

Ms. Landry asked whether all interested parties could meet before the next meeting. Mr. Lamb stated 

this would be the intention and added if this application is continued, the Board would also need to 

extend the decision deadline. He added the request would be for Eversource to come up with a design 

that the Board could approve. If there is no viable solution, staff will advise the Board as such. 

 

Vice-Chair Barrett felt the best option would be for this item to come back with a best solution and the 

Board can decide at that time, even though this will push the applicant back another month. He added 

he always appreciates the guidance provided by planning staff and does not take their advice lightly. 

Mr. Lamb stated by potentially making screening a condition of approval and providing staff the 

authority to make a decision on this matter would not provide the public the opportunity to comment 

on it and felt the best option would be for this matter to be brought back to the Board next month. 

 

Mr. Bohannon stated if this matter comes back next month and it is still an argument back and forth 

between the applicant and the abutter he will be inclined to remove the request; he felt the issue just 

needs to be resolved.  

 

The Chair re-opened the application and invited the applicant to come back up and address the Board. 

Mr. Nelson stated the applicant would like to ask for an extension of the 65-day decision deadline and 

a continuation of the project application to the December Planning Board meeting. 

Page 8 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 7 of 10 

B.   Board Discussion and Action  

A motion was made by Councilor George Hansel that the Planning Board grant the request from Public 

Service of New Hampshire dba Eversource to extend the Planning Board’s 65-day decision deadline 

for SPR 13-17 to December 18, 2017 and to continue the public hearing for SPR 13-17 to the 

December 18, 2017 Planning Board meeting. 

 

The motion was seconded by Pamela Russell Slack and was unanimously approved. 
 

IV. Public Hearings 

1. S-10-17 – 37-39 Prospect Street – Subdivision – Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants on 

behalf of owner Michael and Fern Geraghty proposes a 2-lot subdivision. The site is 0.523 acres in 

size and located in the Medium Density Zoning District (TMP# 008-03-022).  
 

Mr. Barrett asked to be recused from this public hearing as he was an abutter to this property. 

 

A. Board Determination of Completeness. 

Planner Michele Chalice recommended to the Board that the Application S-10-17 was complete. A 

motion was made by Andrew Bohannon that the Board accept this application as complete. The motion 

was seconded by Nathaniel and was unanimously approved. 
 

B. Public Hearing 

Mr. Michael Clough of Fieldstone Landsurveying addressed the Board. Mr. Clough referred to the 

existing lot on a plan outlined in blue consisting of .518 acres, (22,000 square feet). The proposal is for 

a 2-lot subdivision. After the subdivision the lot will be reduced to .308 acres (13,400 square feet) and 

the new lot .211acres (9,173 square) in size.  

 

Mr. Clough stated this property is located in Medium Density where the lot size is 8,000 square feet, 

minimum frontage is 50 feet; building setbacks are 15 feet in the front, 10 feet to the side and 15 feet to 

the rear. After the subdivision, the new lot will take its frontage along Spruce Street (129.29 linear 

feet) and the existing frontage will remain for the existing lot (133.18 linear feet) on Prospect St.  Mr. 

Clough referred to an existing sewer line that traverses the lot right now and ties into the municipal 

sewer line on Spruce Street. The applicant is proposing a 20-foot wide sewer easement shown on the 

plan in green, which would also allow for a new driveway for the single family dwelling. This 

concluded Mr. Clough’s presentation. 

 

Staff comments were next. Ms. Chalice stated the applicant had initially submitted this proposal with a 

single-family home sited on it as well as a driveway. If there are no complications, the Board has often 

been able to approve such requests, but this is not the case with this application; there is a large shade 

tree at the property line which would have to be removed. As a result, this application is now just a 

subdivision.   

 

The property is served by city water and sewer, has an overall slope of 5%. It is a viable building site 

for a single family home and a driveway. Access to this site would be off Spruce Street not Prospect 

Street. This concluded Ms. Chalice’s comments. 

 

Councilor Hansel asked whether the easement was going to be in written format and how it was going 

to be enforced. Mr. Clough stated the easement language will be written into the new deed. Mr. Lamb 

asked what this language would say. Mr. Clough stated the language would restrict any structures 

within the easement. The Chairman asked whether a driveway would be permitted. Mr. Clough stated 

driveways usually run over sewer lines but if there was work that needed to be done this would be a 

Page 9 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 8 of 10 

condition that would be written into the deed as well; that such expense will be borne by the easement 

holder.  

 

The Councilor asked whether the applicant would be willing to draft an easement and submit this as 

part of the subdivision plan, so that it could be enforced should there ever be an issue. Mr. Clough 

stated they would have no issue with that. 

 

Mike Geraghty of 55 Kendall Road stated the proposed driveway would not cross the easement; there 

would be no pavement or structures on this easement. The Councilor stated his issue is being able to 

enforce the easement should the property change hands. Mr. Geraghty stated this language would be 

included in the deed.  

 

The Chairman asked for public comment next. 

 

Ms. Ann Knight of 26 Prospect Street addressed the Board. She is an abutter diagonal to this property. 

Ms. Knight stated she opposes this subdivision because Prospect Street is already an extremely dense 

street. She noted from Court Street to Prospect Street where it intersects with Forest Street, there are 14 

residences of these eight are already multi-family dwellings: a 10 room boarding house, 361 Court 

Street which is owned by Prospect Place and is zoned for16 beds, 5 two-dwelling and another three-

family unit. 

 

Ms. Knight also pointed out, in preparation for the site plan the applicant has already taken down trees 

which makes it look even more dense. 

 

Ms. Jen Knight of 26 Prospect Street added between Spruce Street and Forest Street there are already 

six multi-family dwellings and this is also a very narrow street and the only way to get to Court Street 

is via Spruce Street or Forest Street. She stated both these streets are always backed up with vehicles 

and this is compounded during the winter months with the snow banks. She pointed out that taking 

down of the all the trees has taken away the only green space this area had. 

 

Ms. Knight went on to say 25 Prospect Street is currently under contract and these new owners have 

expressed concern about the loss of privacy and are contemplating moving. She also noted 

construction traffic has been blocking the entrance to 25 Prospect Street and this has been going on for 

a few months. 

 

With no further comments, the Chairman closed the public hearing. 

 

Councilor Hansel stated he would like to see the draft easement submitted with the final application 

prior to signature of the Chairman, so that the city has a record for future use.  

 

Mr. Stout asked why the Board is approving this application in advance of a driveway permit. Mr. 

Lamb stated this lot is big enough only for a single family home and single family home driveways are 

approved by the City Engineer. 

 

Mr. Bohannon asked whether the ten vehicle trips were per household. Mr. Lamb stated this was for a 

single family unit. Mr. Lamb stated for two working people this would be a high number.  

 

Councilor Hansel recognized the concerns expressed by the abutters, however, those concerns are 

outside the Board’s purview but felt there could be some enforcement issue with construction traffic 

the abutters could perhaps address with the City. 

Page 10 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 9 of 10 

The Chairman reopened the public hearing to hear from an abutter. Ms. Jennifer Knight stated because 

of the narrow and dead end nature of Spruce Street the construction vehicles have no room to 

turnaround so these vehicles are currently parked on Prospect Street which would impede traffic on 

Prospect Street for a very long time. 

 

The Chairman closed the public hearing again. 

 

B. Board Discussion and Action  

A motion was made by Councilor George Hansel that the Planning Board approve S-10-17, as shown 

on the plan set identified as “Tax Map 8, Lot 3-22, 37-39 Prospect Street, Keene, NH,  Prepared for 

land of Michael F. & Fern E. Geraghty, 1” = 20’, dated November 16, 2017 with the following 

conditions: 

 

1. Submittal of language for an easement requiring sufficient provisions to the satisfaction of 

the City Engineer. 

2. Owner’s signature on plan prior to approval. 

The motion was seconded by Pamela Russell Slack and was unanimously approved. 
 

Vice-Chair Barrett rejoined the session. 

 

V. New Business 

1. Discussion – Site Plan Regulations and Review for Agricultural Developments  

Ms. Chalice stated that at the October Planning Board meeting, staff was asked to look at the Board 

Standards as they relate to agricultural development. Ms. Chalice stated the NH Coalition for 

Sustaining Agriculture is a small group that was able to find a grant to explore all things agriculture in 

New Hampshire. She called the Board’s attention to page 36 of the packet, an Agriculture Tool Kit 

which looks at land uses, local regulations and encouraging farming in the state. Ms. Chalice also 

noted the NH Right to Farm Flow Chart as the last packet page. The plan is to finalize this “Tool Kit” 

with the current grant and the second goal is to create better tools to assist farmers in navigating and 

interpreting applicable regulations.  

 

Chair Spykman asked when this would be ready for use. Ms. Chalice stated this document is still in 

draft format; the Tool Kit is anticipated to be ready by the end of the year. A second grant is being 

sought for farmers to create alternative guidance that is more user friendly. There is no schedule for the 

second portion of this project. 

 

Ms. Landry asked whether this process anticipates any legislative changes. Ms. Chalice answered in 

the negative and added as she went through this process she noticed there are quite a few protections in 

place to protect farmers from over-regulation. 

 

Ms. Chalice stated the next step would be to bring this item back to the Board when it is final and 

eventually fold this into the Land Use Code Update. The Chairman asked whether a public process 

would be helpful for this item. Ms. Chalice stated those opportunities would be available when the 

Land Use Code Update is brought forward and added the Agriculture Commission will also be 

discussing this item at their next meeting. She stated she can bring an update from that meeting to the 

Planning Board as well. The Chairman stated he wanted to make sure this item does not get lost in the 

larger Land Use Code Update process. Mr. Lamb clarified the Board was comfortable adding this item 

to the Land Use Code Update and not pursuing a separate process to amend the regulations. The 

Chairman agreed. 

 

Page 11 of 47



Planning Board Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 

November 27, 2017 

 

Page 10 of 10 

VI. Director Reports 

1. DRAFT 2018 Planning Board calendar adoption 

Mr. Lamb stated should the Board approved this calendar tonight, staff would be able to put in place 

all the deadlines that would need to go along with the new schedule of meetings prior to the January 

meeting. If there is a Monday holiday, the meeting would take place on a Tuesday. 

 

A motion was made by Councilor George Hansel to approve the 2018 meeting schedule as presented. 

The motion was seconded by Andrew Bohannon and was unanimously approved. 

 

2. Move December 25
th

 meeting to December 18
th

  

 

VII. Upcoming Dates of Interest – December 2017 

Planning Board Meeting – December 18, 6:30 PM 

Planning Board Steering Committee – December 12, 12:00 PM 

Joint PB/PLD Committee – Monday, December 11, 6:30 PM 

Planning Board Site Visits – December 20, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 

 

The meeting adjourned at 8:25 PM. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 

 

Reviewed by: Rhett Lamb, Planning Director 

Edits, L. Langella, T. Kessler, M. Chalice 

Page 12 of 47



SPR-13-17  SITE PLAN REVIEW – Eversource Substation Renovation, 0 Emerald St.   
 
Request: 
Property owner PSNH, Public Service of New Hampshire, is proposing a renovation to the substation on 
a 2.52 acre parcel at 0 Emerald Street in Keene NH, TMP 047-03-009. The project scope includes the 
replacement, removal and upgrade of existing electrical equipment, the replacement and addition of 
security fences and the construction of a 1,440 SF switch gear building.   
 
Background: 
This second supplemental staff report addresses a remaining issue discussed at the project’s continued 
public hearing on November 27, 2017’s  Planning Board meeting. The issue discussed and unresolved 
was that of potential perimeter screening on the east property line.  Two previous staff reports regarding 
this project are available at:  

1. October’s Meeting Packet w/ the original Staff Report: 
https://ci.keene.nh.us/sites/default/files/2017-10/2017_10_23_pb_agenda_packet.pdf  

2. November’s Meeting Packet w/ the First Supplemental Staff Report: 
https://ci.keene.nh.us/sites/default/files/2017-11/2017_11_27_pb_agenda_packet.pdf  

 
Completeness: 
The Planning Board accepted the application as complete at the October 23, 2017 Planning Board 
meeting. 
 
Departmental Comments: not applicable 
    
Application Analysis: 

 
SCREENING: 
A meeting was held on December 5th, 2017 with the applicant’s representatives, City Planning staff, 
Lieutenant Maxfield and Mr. Tousely to discuss the issue of screening alongside the eastern boundary of 
the subject property: 
1. Lieutenant Maxfield confirmed that the City would not be responsible for any mischief that would 

potentially be unseen due to the screening.  He asked if security cameras would be in place to monitor 
any potential problems for the applicant. Mr. Roe, project manager confirmed that there would be 
security cameras.  Mr. Roe also confirmed that appropriate signage would be placed on all sides of 
the fence by the applicant. 

2. Proposed plantings on the north side of the proposed structure are now specified as 4’ shrubs with an 
appropriate planting detail for such. 

3. 150 LF of plastic slats are to be installed in the new, 8’ chain link fence along the eastern property 
boundary.  A note on the revised site plan now states: “Privacy slats to be provided in security fence 
for 150’ from the front corner”.   

4. The abutter has been made aware that fence slats may increase snow drifting onto his adjacent 
pavement.  

These points were agreed to by all parties.  
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR APPLICATION: 

 
If the Board is inclined to approve this application, the following motion is recommended: 

 

Page 13 of 47

https://ci.keene.nh.us/sites/default/files/2017-10/2017_10_23_pb_agenda_packet.pdf
https://ci.keene.nh.us/sites/default/files/2017-11/2017_11_27_pb_agenda_packet.pdf


Approve SPR-13-17 with a waiver request from Standard 19, as shown within the plan set entitled 
“Emerald Street Substation, Emerald Street, Keene New Hampshire, Cheshire County”, Tax Map 
47-03-009, prepared for Eversource and PSNH by VHB of Bedford, NH, dated August 14, 2017, 
received September 15, 2017 and most recently revised December 6, 2017 at various scales; with 
the following conditions: 
 

1. Submittal of the applicant’s Soil Containment Plan and other protective construction 
details to prevent siltation into Mill Creek due to the movement of construction materials 
across Emerald Street, for review and approval by the City Engineer. 
 

2. Owner’s representative’s signature on the plan set. 
 

3. Submittal of a security for erosion control, landscaping and an “as-built” plan in a form 
and amount acceptable to the Planning Director and City Engineer.  
 

4. Signature by Planning Board Chair. 
 

 
 
 

Page 14 of 47



Site Plans 

Owner 

Eversource 

Pennittlog -
~-ember 14~ 2~7 
Sept ... - ., 
C>e~em~r 6, 201 · 

PO Box 330 NH 03105 
Manchester, 

Applicant 

PSNH 

PO Box 270T 06141-0270 
Hartford, C 

Assessor's Map: 
Block:3 
Lot: 9 

P.ge1S~21 

47 

] , 

~ _.:--:,-~....:....-_,.......__ 
~-

No. 

C· l 

C·2 

C-3 

C-4 

C· S 

Drawing Title 

d General Notes Legend an 

Overall Site Plan 

Site Plan 

Erosion Control Plan 

Site Details 

latest Issue 

~ombor 14, 2017 

Oecember 6, 2017 

~ember 6, 2017 

October 30,2017 

Oecemtler 6, 2017 

e 

No. 

Sv 

rawings 

Drawing Title 

Existing Conditions Plan 

e 

E 
0 
~ 

J:l .c 
> 

2 Bedford Farms Dri~ 

suite 200 
Bedford, NH 03110 

603.391.3900 

Page 15 of 47



i1 
:! 

J 

I 
1 

l 
l 
;!! 
g ,, 

I 

I 

---

I . 

d 

\ 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

\ '\ 
I \'\ 

'\ 

------ -~-

Zoning Summary Chart 

~ ~(COM) -~~~ Requ;'"<l ' ""*'ed -..-. ,.,_ 
... _ 

,.,_ 
~'RCNrstJlA,o:Of"~s.r.q 
~::~ .. ,~ 
~~.wo~~~ffl4.vu ~-'iiCf"· 

~Aiofo~-~ !'l><c< ....... 

"'~ 

...... 
...... 

, ._ ....... 
u., .... 
~~ .. llO 

"''"" :.a .. ,._~~ 

18edfo..d F...,. om. 
Suil:e 200 

Bedf..-ct NH 03JJo 
603.391J9oo 

Emerald Street 
Substation 
E~T~«ald Street 

~ ~ 
~ 
~ 
~: ........ ~ 

Sep. 14_ 2017 

Page 16 of 47



\1 \ 
\ \ 

\\ 
\ 

'\, 

l 

\ 
\ 

\ 

\ 
" , ... , 
~~ 

urul'T~ 

\ 
=~w:~~ 

\ 
\ 

RtllOWat (lt(lftllOM ~ 

~ rrA~----~----~----~~~-t~~-, 

i 
l ) :; 
~ 

s 
I 

\ 
~ 
l! 

t • l 

~ 
If: 
~ 
§ 

i 
\ . 

~ 
~ 

i \ 

i 
~ 
~ 

l 
P ... 17of21 

~~~~~~~~--~~------~~J~~ 
(~S:~ A"' .>'M.'Ci:S) 

Qty. 

~ 

EROSION CONT~Ol NOTES AND DETAILS lOCATED ON C-4, 
UOSION CON'!~ PIAH. 

l . INSPECTION ~NO MAINTENANCE MEASURES FOR EROSION 
CONTROl AND lONG-TERM MAINTENANCE ARE OUTUNED IN 
A SEPARATE DOCUMENT ENTJHEO 1NSPECTION AN D 
MAINTENAN CE MANUAL" 

3. CONSTRUCTION TIMING AND PfiASING NOTES lOCATED ON 
C-1. LEGEND AND GENERAL NOTES. 

.. SECURJTY SIGNAGETO BE. INSTALLED ON All FOUR SlOES OF 
FENCE. FINAl SIGN TYPES TO 6E COOROINATEO WITH THE 
POUCE DEPARTMENT. 

,'. 
,/' 

Bot.W:..I NaiM 

~:.· 

.:' 

@ --0 10 20 

INSET 

\' ,I 

Plant List 

··-

Common Name 
Z'lo(l'Al......,.JM; 
.t'HT AlloiAJVfiOTY 
I'"''' !:I> 

E 
B 
.D 
-s 

; -1:. •• 

'4(,hb 
2 Bedford Farms Drive 
Suite 200 

Bedford, NH 03110 

603.391.3900 

Emerald Street 
Substation 
Em~rald StrtKtt 
K~n~. New Hampshire 

t·_....., 
-~--=-~___;.;_ 

S.p. l4. 2017 

C-3 

13563.33 

Page 17 of 47



\ 

\ \ \ 

Page HI Df21 

5llT f'[h'(( 

IIAAR!ER (TYF. ) 

\ 

\ 

~'1111 0 1S lO 

I 

I 

,\ ...... 

.. ... 

,, 
1\ ·,. 

~~ 
\i 

I ~ ,: 
• ·- I 

,.::" ~l~~y J) 

·~ -~.}:.:!: 
' 

\ . ./ 

Effi!!Mtamd 
<'DOOICK~INICIT"'Nc-11t["'ft,.fK COI'IICil.kliiYIIIIWI·~ 
OGt.asoc-.. .. na, _....a:tomaX_•YoDONOMnc"~.m .. 
Alfl'IIOirRIIQD,I,.._CN>I~-.xDOU.-~-.ntSfUAKl. 

~ ~:~~=~==~olf.:=~W£~ff:~f::~~~~~~~~' 
COOitiiOil~tl~WS< .. O.:fVIICI-'',_f~IICH~!ltta!.IIUil'""ftii:Q()() I¥.>1 
uo<.IMtfG<'llll(llNJIJQ;.(Slti)CT~~...c>PWI'I.(I\D m.cti 

(r.NJIIIIC:KJIISH!Itl • laiO~IIOC~ (OO.uo;ciiDN'I«))JIICI 

:===~w:::,~:.::a~'::='o."=e.aiii!IIIID~ 
~ Ct-.101111Q\II[IKOfCOIOtUJC-~loiD!Mn--1117SIIII 

=~'r~":...NIINOOI)WWIOC{tli!llllllltoa:o;•!iloiRQ.CICIQI'IGIUifi:U.QO 

5 IJ'«j(OWPt[-Of~'ltiOC_,..INilts-.ot,.NIOI'If~ltiT GDOilf41Willll 
a.. rtllCJOO~ l i:tNOG.IIOOflt,tu,o.Ofi11::115(101 ('0011CI:JI.KIY.ABID<'O(~ftlll!llf&ltM' 
~01-1-INIQ~!oa.l> ..... 

L DOG-;tJ<CSMM.O•IGIO......,(IfW!'Xl ... liJ---IIItJIWIOD!l8 
.-CIIr> Cioql~'U.(nO ~OCIK"'Ian' "f~Oti • ...,....._ I OII•IQI(Irt'.wLtl. 

ll[.,_lll~itGIOICIDNT'II~CPDI I CJOU-1..-.mGM.IIllll'I ID:Oofll r n 
IH)O(I'tiii.Ol1. 11.L II~I~~IJ'MI!jiiii iiiH:II.~tMUl 

~STCI(~JC(Ift.(J)K»>li'IODIIG' - liDilOI.$-I II T!Y'OCI::D(eYIOIO IN) 
-c~~n~ cc•nm ...... ,.... Maa Ml i CMOIGClOIOGDIID-ID 01 t iOCII'Ill'!. 

.. (~klO\NIUJIXCIII.'a~----IO(oo.fDittaeMIInllM 
.-c)liOCJCICDliCIJOI:I'l iiiQ:INO ... (~li1QODMif~IOO_I_.. 
~U-1.....:»6.(1("""llt. ICI-rWl*I!I\'IIOCIII.IIIOMIOOD 
COoi!I.X-II[WO!IIJ)~w-~StGLIIIOIMCJ11 01a.rtoofl'I'IS 

I I CI')OI IIIX'YOCI~ID.l ~"'C7!&1W~(OIIIIn. ... IRD•II)~lWGI ~m"'-1 
Q IIIU~-«r 1~0JIOttUaooo:lll5000 ~T (IJ:.D:I""'-"IIlNI.Nr, IIJIOOW~tlllliL 
OO!llt':CX DllNif~ CIO OV-1) 

11 ~CIIO»DL. ION!dCICI!'Qli. OH:O! lltlfOII LQO.....-OQ;(I(Oia:IOO 

• G~,..,CXn!IUi..IIGIOCZIII111HIBtnlll~ 

G ::="' ""'~ '"'._.fQ)Ioalolalii:ID. ,S-D.lT ... DO~.IICI>IIl" 

u " _ _ tDTtaX:ll.II. CUO- I IIlt61'tiXO~~_,JI:'*I,t01t'l loiO-va.l 

-IIO'IQ.-IUIW~IIII:O(Itt.~l flCii:Uho-.wq«ll' 

let ~~ttQiil.laiJ.a_IJ'fll.-otii'--I·~~PDOQODIOI'G(IH.:-MI 

1~ ~OIJ!I:IDIDi_,l'aD/<CO. iO~~L tE)lii:MICJDO ~"',.>~IOOC~OI~or.l~ 

,. IJt(OI._, PaL§tCJooi)_I.~INI\ODlO .. -IIMOIIIJo/li'IICWIINC I~ .... 
n a.~,_,~.~~--••""''~'~~~'~...,tl4-

179.36' 

""""""' 
....,._ ;;;, '"""""""' """" 

~1~:::~~ ~ .. ::: ~ ·-- ......... """" 
Dlol11011:[ -- ~ IJelff(N.IU:toi'WOGCI ~-:::=.,mt:au , _ -,._ 
~.!i~~~ 

<l.KI MI:IJ 

·~-'~-

T""NI'>Ioi()Q Olt~lhG..:J "'IJ.L N IH' "!fflll OIGIINl~OI&~O" Di ft lolllm 
101:-ts:;Jan~ aCtot:OtNWlNODIIIIJI>D~tJomo,N: 

,. tQOIII,)W(Oktm:l.ll-lSIIClO I(a&II.UG OfOCl/. §ttlft!>IHIJTID !III'IV'CII -).1/ 
WGCI)f!IQCPGHIIJ.cacD. OMIIcn\ICJII(C*NOI.-D!.*Jol l(..oni-~ 
OCIIlf !CI...._..-....p(DGil 

I. Gianoti50.SCliL(IO...:Iollll lllii-Q~QJN IIUTGIJitcrG~
~-IOIUM.OilOIICH IIllti61U:.OmTIOQt>Of(D nmSHCUaltOIIIOGD .. TIIIUIO 
OIII! J'I()ii[OII[ll)'.,uoi (UOIOI.._III~ .. I'IDL:ID'TlKAlntiDISIGHI\00 ( 0N:fllO!t;. 

~l(ll ,.,;a .. Mc n T ... I~OWI\. Itr iDmlOCI'IIDIIGKD•II.Oti( Q: QOQ::II~IWiftD/00 
11« D NilO~I'IIol,ltOL lf'JO)IIOCTIDDKH D loii-WOI~N:HO O/fCDHIGGa:DL --· 

SlltOon<ellarrier 

"""''"' ~' 

Jilt. 
' ~"""' mlllC~I. 

"" 

CJ:I\1 nc e._, ,...'O" '""s,a •tw •/[ tllli~ ..-01'" oa.a~K~C~ 

J WltiGt\~.....r:tiJUCJSI.C i-.IDO_.~. HCNO.:_o_J 
OOW00. ~--0 -a::I.UIII.O 

=~~~':r~~:::..~~sg:lt':'i'~~~to(l 
. .... III('AlOitr:.IO. L.,_,:vg ~ f[ ~f'I:D-DICICIIUIJI Q: (OMM€,~()01~ 

MICI/n.l((llmlk tl.~ ~ toHI:II II IJ!,lD JI QIIIID/iOIII-CF ii~[IXIIOJI. 

Dosion DcHotro!BIM>ket Slope Jnstallot;.,., 

··~-® r t'CIIaii OO 
.. l'KI(tl IQ(ICDIOCft. 

-

~
-· 

M f!«C • 

..(~ ~? . . 

--...... 

Sllt>ackSedimentllrap 

!!J!!<! 

~==~~~~~~a~:.~r~~~~~=~O.~~ 

l ~TilM.liDCOf6Tlllll;lf;lflllllllJ"'~L K·~tiOIJa;I TOIWtl 
'-"...:1"11~/l~t(fOO ... TII I ID 

Stabilio,d Oonstriktlon Ddt 

2 Bedford Fetms onv • 
Suit~ 200 
iledlo(d, NI-l 03110 

603.391.3900 

Emerald Street 
Substation 
Emerald St~t 
Keene. New Hampshire 

.. 

... 

Sop. 14, 2017 

. 
F"'O", ,TJn CtwtrQ! :1\H1 

C-4 
4 

11563.33 

Page 18 of 47



P.ge19of2.1 

m~~~-. ----
~~ 
~~~~~ 

=-- ~ - --
Grass Block Pilver (HeaVY Ve111cle ..t.aess) 

idj ? r ::x ,_____ ~ 

Structural Cantltever Slide Gate 

Ids. ol W!ttt a.MN! 
......-1111ftfll(lfft.llral~llffounulO"""'WIMOI'
liUUDIICU01fiiC\IIJo('t.INCJ-.MYA#~ NII~ 
rur1rwr~lOJ!IG CJ.IMM> .... ou '""''t'(IP' II[t~\.IIIM'l 

,.,_~tote'tlo!t 

I =~-=~.;~=&~~== 
""""'-"-'"""'""OI'(MJ\.0....~-.... - lNf 
-Co- .IIIII(II,((IHI~Sr<'O.lNO»I-.....O.GOII 
..._ll"'''J.~Di'>"'UOI,__,n....,1111W'-'N!IIifjntl T"-1: -""'~'JOOI:Sit<vtllllt~UU§IDr'fM(I>!liiKIOISIIAI.I Oi 

"'-.,""''~"''"~"'''"~11111(~....,..._ 

.. l l'fD'OI(O,.,_,~-~nltorli'I /$\IOIIfloiC*-

=~:~=~,._,-... ..,_ l~-""''W<I 

~TM.::..:..._I'I'I,Ino;..t.l'iOI'I'\C6111.1 UlO« G....,.._ ......, 
~U!11.0Mo-NII:Jll"f""""''':'N:PNSI~to\1'),1,Qf<:CHI I('"O'I. 

ll«>-l """lll-liii'WI II:Ml'1t.l!D_..h.N.l _...,.. 
UINSIIIIIIIC.....,_.,.fll~lii:D _.. .. _IMl'I 
WWIUCKlll-li"'P'fOillloHOI"S-~---I:II-(01'¥!1tl 

AliJOI'JIIIIOf~IU.~~~-tiSII!MIItUIIOUIHI 
-K<IIIG-..os,.He • IILI.-Rg, UOilMOIM:f:fiU" 
H.O(Joii'DOIIoUII.._,.c-iiii.-<:1Uli'ICM~JI"i...._\UI'WM. 

~ ~a~::~~":~~\-:,c::""c::::o"tlfj 

C. 1-QOIIOOfrtf'( ,(JII,(.I(OI_I,_,...,.M"""'«..rii~ Sf!Own 
cw ... ,....,TM15....,. S.Wl\..-..ar:.H(tlli(.-.M« Ntr 
~-1\IOOO!OllfrHI'I"'"~OI'IM~f lbi NGDN' 

==-~.l,C::::="r!.~~~=·· 

Nf'r-.w&l~~ ... llONS- III:fllV . .... ~.,.~ 
Nll.lllKTNifl~OftMilh:ltrTHI.~I!III(I'IlSlNllllM. 

t .ol l ftiKI'4#1T"!f.WSIMINWIWWl iAII1 1Hf~f0TJOHl;0! 1Hi. 
,,..HIICIH~IIMIHOI IOl,._,Jt.llll'ilOCl""..-H.o,Y(MM 

~"D.?HOI"I'MIIii._N_COioiTIIIIIC T IU....,.IS. 

I ~":r:K~:,:::·--'UD.~- ON· -IOUOO!UI6 

l.l """"""'-....-u!"!.CioMolt ilfO"-M:<ltA--Ii.'tlflOirolol 
....o~M.,CUMIS(Iwu..-a-ltWII(MOIIKJil> 
...... __,C'"J!IITI'IOI.I~ 

II. =r:s=~M':~:="OI!~~=~I~Nn 

)I lt ... l'tAJII:.I>tll.-0-fti.N- I'U~NIUII(,l!fll/0'1 -FUII. ... I OI"""""~.,.._r1fOiloM/IOIO 

"'-~..._.,.., .. 
I (00~-10Wli>Yit((IO«Df-1fJWoC10t·IE

_,,__ IO(I~.,._,._......roi'()~IIISSI'Ilk 
a'lto--Klll-l~rSI."'!MIIO--ttJI'f3""'Ww...._, 
Ml:ti\M~~IIIlUM'KM ......... G\WWI'Ifli ot.-:n 

5:!~:.=..:~=~~r=~ 

:::::-:..:.:=:::::"'$WC»t- JI 
=~~~~··~"==·:=:=~' 
((lrl~-llllfii>I:JDf.t(I(#;CII"f<C ....... 3AI TWI[f)IOC# 
IMt:Ot<l:~~·•rl'fll:li"O(aflW'fOII-1 !\ftll()oO. 

loWIIlfiiNICI 'JO IHIIiiM. liTI' t.IMoll'[l'lo'.HCI"III~A11H,Iol niO(. 

""' lb. 

l 
1 
~-

) 1(0101)tN-I II""""llji"'"JWI~~IIOI'4-l K"'~DIII.Im •..a. 

4 IOIOioiii-IOMII-I a !IC11N IUIL IIIOMMMD -151fOGIIoDC-!IIW~ 
IINJUQJWIColaM.•mlr4 ......... SIII!Ut~-... 

Dry Well 

~ 
1 ~=Liol.rHIIItr<JIWIS10toi iiii """""AI'Nq.JN~-

J. Goi.TH05T ....,; ·PUIIINICf[t.lf)'tf(0XI'JII~flt 

L '~HM!u:."""KI_,..f\rriiOIIii:,S,Nto~"""'l lil 
IONWIHli.,~T'Ul"-"'~(J-11!1. ...... 

~Jo-IIIH'OOot"""SIIlCI'IIIIUI-f)(IIJIU(oU( 

Chain link FenCl! Gate 

'tree Protection Fen~ 

"'' U)_ .. , 

"'' 

Gravel Substation Pad - 2!:c;~ Secdon 

ll==='!!~~=:;;jf-=~/' . - ~it..~: 
' 

-~ ~~~~-::.:.~MI ..... U) IN~Io!IOI ...,..... I IW-.Jfl'llk.oull'l 

l. -c,""""Of...m.....- ... J~IIO !III""'"'IIfl.W00 1!6Wll0"' "ll.,._.l'MDI 
~(Uitl......,_fl'\ li'\IIOl,.ll\-

) tUIICb ,_ ... ..,_n~ .. ,_.._~-~Am"~CAJ~ 

8' Chin link l='ence "" 

Shr\lb Bod Plontlng 

. ~ .. 
'•thb 

2 Bedford F.ums Drive 
Suite 200 

6c:dford, NH 03110 

603.39L3900 

Emerald Street 
Substation 
Emerald Street 
Keene, Now Hampshire ... 

S.p. l .C, 2017 

I -

s .-re rh.'' ,, t ~ 

"¥'·-.. 
US63.3l 

Page 19 of 47



SPR-967, Mod. 8I   SITE PLAN REVIEW – Monadnock Food Co-Op Expansion 
 
Request: 
 
Property owner Cypress Street Development, LLC/C/O MEDC is proposing a 5,700 SF expansion of the 
12,500 SF Monadnock Food Co-Op located on TMP # 023-04-027.800 (1.56 acres) at 34, #E Cypress 
Street in Keene, NH  onto the adjacent 0.3287 acre parcel, TMP #023-04-027.1100.  The project will 
include the addition of eleven parking spaces and a community amphitheater.  Both parcels and this 
project are part of the larger Railroad property located in downtown Keene, in the Central Business 
Zoning District as well as Keene’s Historic District. 
 
 
Background: 
 
The Monadnock Food Co-Op was initially approved by the Planning Board on September 6, 2011and the 
Historic District on September 14, 2011.  As has been recently revisited, the conditionally-approved site 
plan has gone through multiple modifications to this current point in time.  The current Co-Op building 
expansion includes, as noted above, eleven parking spaces, a community amphitheater/pergola, an 
expanded outdoor patio, an additional bicycle parking rack, raised and movable planters, enhanced 
landscaping as well as new shade trees and a separate N/S sidewalk to accommodate users walking from 
their dedicated parking spaces in the Co-op parking lot to their offices at 51 Railroad Street.  
 
Completeness: 
The applicant has requested site-specific exemptions from the specified aspects or features not present on 
site.  They have not submitted visual and architectural details as these aspects will be reviewed as part of 
their Historic District Commission application. They have not submitted a Traffic Report but have 
requested a waiver from the Traffic Report requirement.  
 
After review of each request, Staff has determined that exempting the applicant from submitting the 
requested information would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommends that the 
Planning Board accept the application as “complete.”  

 
Departmental Comments: 

 
Code: “Central Business Zone, no setbacks to review, no coverage to review, no parking to review. 
Code is good.” 
 
Police Dept.: No issues 
 
Fire Dept.:  No issues 
 
Engineering Dept.:  

 
09-26-17 Site Plans: 
1. Show contour lines on existing and proposed condition plans. 
2. Provide a grading plan for proposed development. 
3. Provide spot grades as needed to clarify the intent of the grading at proposed parking lot. 
4. Provide details and typical sections for a proposed raised crosswalk. 
5. Show the location of temporary construction entrance into the site. 
6. Show the limit of existing drainage pipe to be demolished. 
7. Show limits of existing sidewalks to be reconstructed. 

Page 20 of 47



8. Please confirm that all symbology used in the drawings is defined correctly in the legend (e.g., 
two types of symbols that have been used for existing gas valves).  

 
Stormwater Management: 
1. Pre-development: provide a complete drainage report, specifically showing pond “11P” and 

“99” in order to compare pre and post development conditions. 
2. The drainage summary table shows that post-development peak discharge for a 25-yr storm 

frequency is significantly lower than the pre-development. Please clarify the discrepancy. -Staff 
Engineer 

 
 
Application Analysis: 
The following is a review of the Board’s relevant standards in relation to the proposed application: 
 
1. Drainage:   

A. Per Planning Board Development Standard 1.a. RUNOFF The site is currently completely 
drained into the City’s stormwater system under the adjacent open-space oval.  The proposed 
design redirects the majority of the site into an existing subsurface structure underneath the 
Co-Op parking lot.  The relocated outdoor patio will continue to drain into the green, oval 
space. 

B. Per Planning Board Development Standard 1.b. LOW IMPACT DESIGN As mentioned 
above, the majority of the site is proposed to drain into the existing, adjacent, subsurface, 
drainage structure which overflows into an existing detention area alongside Community 
Way.  These structures accomplish Low Impact Development goals of delayed release and 
enhanced stormwater infiltration.  

This standard has been met. 
 

2. Sedimentation and Erosion Control:  Per Planning Board Development Standard 2.a  A silt fence, 
catch basin inlet filter and a shortened, stabilized construction entrance are proposed to enclose the 
disrupted area of this active site.  This standard has been met.  

 
4. Snow Storage:  Acknowledging the tight spatial constraints, the application and plan notes that 

“excess snow will be trucked and disposed of off-site”. This standard has been met.  
 
5. Flooding: The site is in a 500-year flood plain but not a 100-year flood plain.  No accommodations 

are required to meet the City’s current Floodplain Ordinance. This standard has been met.  
 
6. Landscaping:  Per Planning Board Standard 6. the proposed site plan contains a variety of perennials, 

shrubs and shade trees.  The applicant has revised the initially incomplete shade tree planting detail to 
include the required 300 CF of native soil for each shade tree. Additionally, given the predominance 
of gravel present on site with minimal topsoil, the applicant has also revised the standard shrub 
planning detail to require a minimum of 12” soil below each root ball. It should be clearly stated up 
front that these transplanted shrubs will also be subject to the City’s one-year planting guarantee.  

 
This standard has been met. 

 
8. Screening:  Per Planning Board Standard 8. the landscape plan shows the transplanted shrubs will 

provide screening from the adjacent parking lot. This standard has been met.  
 
10. Lighting:  The applicant submitted a lighting plan on December 8, 2017 

Page 21 of 47



1. Per Planning Board Standard 10.1. The applicant has submitted a lighting plan which illustrates 
the effectiveness of building wall packs, bollard lights, LED strip lighting (mounted downwards) 
and LED lighting under the eastside building overhang. This plan meets the board’s standard in 
two ways: 

a. Footcandle Recommendations: The average illuminance is1.38 footcandles. The City’s 
standard is a minimum of 0.9 footcandles. 

b. Uniformity Ratio:  The city’s standard is that the minimum illuminance (0.6) is no less 
than ¼ of the average illuminance (1.38).  This means that the average to minimum ratio 
of 0.345, greater than 0.25.   
 

2. Per Planning Board Standard C.1. SHIELDING: The project’s lighting fixtures all fully shielded  
with the exception of the street light fixture.  This traditional-style street light fixture matches 
those already on-site.  These same fixtures were approved as part of the 2011 project once again, 
on the basis of their matching those fixtures already on site.  The 2010 Planning Board Standard 
did have our current requirement of:  “All lights…shall be fully-shielded (full cut-off), opaque 
fixtures, with no portion of the bulb visible. Uplighting is prohibited.”  
 
A phone call to Pemco Lighting (the distributor) revealed that there is now a “light lid” accessory 
which can be installed to the currently-specified fixture during the manufacturing process.  This 
lid allows the currently specified bulb and globe. The light lid cost is $80 - $100 per fixture.  This 
accessory is readily available and does not delay the fixture’s manufacture. The light lid does not 
compromise the candlelight effectiveness or require maintenance.  However the light lid brings 
the fixture closer to meeting the Board’s standard by reducing at least the fixture’s uplighting by 
up to 20%. This change can be accomplished by changing the project’s lighting specification to 
contain the abbreviation “LL” in two locations.  “LL” must be added to the current designation of 
both the fixture label of P3-LL and P5-LL as well as to the beginning of both fixture’s 
corresponding descriptions: LEX-ACR-PRS (425LL). The Board may wish to discuss this option 
with the applicant.  
 
This standard has been met. 

 
11. Sewer and Water:  

A. The current water line will be extended to the expanded structure.   
B. Existing sewer catch basins and manholes have been relocated as necessary for the new site 

configuration. 
This standard has been met.  

 
12. Traffic:   

A. Per Planning Board Standard 12.a. with regard to potential “diminish(ed) safety or capacity of 
existing City streets”, the original 2011 Co-op development project’s traffic impact was evaluated 
by comparing the potential new trips resulting from the initial Co-op as less than the number of 
trips estimated in the  original, 2006 Clough, Harbor Traffic Study which included an ice rink.  
This study estimated 490 additional trips as being reasonable to be handled by the existing road 
infrastructure.   
 
The applicant is again asking to compare the additional new trips for the Co-op’s current 
proposed expansion to the aforementioned, 2006 traffic study projections.  Additional 
information was requested due to the age of this study.  A more recent comparison was 
submitted; PM peak hour trip data comparing the square footage of the current Co-op to the 
square footage of the expanded Co-op.  This data showed an estimated increase of 44 PM peak 
hour trips.   

Page 22 of 47



 
B. However, the Planning Board Standard 12.b.’s requirement is that of evaluating “vehicle trips per 

day”. Staff requested this data as well. The attached estimate was submitted on December 6, 2017 
showing the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), Trip Generation Manual code of a 
“Supermarket”.  This analysis states an estimated, potential increase of 291 weekday trips based 
on the expanded square footage.  Southwest Region Planning Commission (SWRPC) 
Transportation Planner JB Mack has confirmed that this ITE classification is correct for the Co-
Op. 
 

C. The City Engineer suggested acquiring traffic count data for the surrounding streets from the 
SWRPC traffic data as being potentially helpful to determine a pattern of traffic usage.  Mr. Mack 
of SWRPC provided traffic counts for Main Street between Cypress and Railroad Street.  The 
data shows “the count in 2016 was a decrease from the counts that were performed in in 2013 and 
2010.” That said, the City-wide data shows widely varying increases as well as decreases from 
year to year with no discernable pattern.  
 

D. 12-07-17 from City Engineer: “I tend to agree with SVE’s basic premise that the total 
development, including this expansion, is well below the peak hour and total daily traffic 
anticipated as the ‘proposed condition’ in the approved 2006 study.  I do not believe that a more 
extensive or detailed traffic study is likely to change that view.  Using the Main St. data as a 
proxy for growth trends in the overall network demonstrates what we have probably all 
observed… There has not been a major, significant change in the network volumes since the 
detailed study was completed in 2006. I’m satisfied, but naturally, this falls within the board’s 
prerogative.”  
 

The applicant has requested a waiver from the Planning Board Standard 12, Traffic.  The applicant will 
discuss the information and findings with board members at the planning board meeting. See attached 
Traffic Memo dated December 6, 2017 and received December 7, 2017.  
 
 
13. Comprehensive Access Management:  

A. Per Planning Board Standard 13.a. a pedestrian, concrete walkway has been provided connecting 
the new parking spaces to the outdoor patio area and on to the side entrance as an accessible path 
of travel.   

B. Per Planning Board Standard 13.d.1 a sidewalk has been provided for those users walking 
between the Co-Op parking lot and the offices on Railroad Street. Additionally another bicycle 
rack has been provided to formally accommodate more bicycling patrons.  

C. Per Planning Board Standard 13.d.3. shade trees have been provided to shade the parking lot 
pavement as well as the site. 

This standard has been met. 
 

19. Architectural and Visual Appearance:   This standard is not applicable as the project will review a 
separate review by the Historic District Commission covering the architectural details and the building’s 
structural aesthetics.      
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR APPLICATION: 

 
If the Board is inclined to approve this application, the following motion is recommended: 

 

Page 23 of 47



Approve SPR-967, Modification #8I, as shown on the plan entitled “Monadnock Food Co-Op 
Expansion, 34 Cypress Street, Keene, NH”  prepared for Cypress Development, LLC c/o MEDC, 
dated and received November 20, 2017, revised December 7, 2017, drawn by kcs Architects and 
SVE Associates of Keene NH at predominant scales of 1” = 10’ and 1” = 20’ with the following 
conditions: 
 

1. Submittal of a revised lighting plan and project specification documents to add light lids to 
the streetlight fixtures by including the abbreviation “LL” (Light Lid) to both  the 
streetlight fixtures (P3 and P5) specifications of “Label” (ex. P3-LL and P5-LL) as well as 
both fixture’s “Description”(ex. LEX-ACR-PRS (425LL). 
 

2. Prior to signature by Planning Board Chair, Owner’s signature on plan. 
 

3. Prior to signature, submittal security for erosion control measures, landscaping and an 
“as-built” plan in a form and amount acceptable to the Planning Director and City 
Engineer. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 24 of 47



Page 25 of 47



Page 26 of 47



Page 27 of 47



Page 28 of 47



Page 29 of 47



Page 30 of 47



Page 31 of 47



Page 32 of 47



Page 33 of 47



Page 34 of 47






EXISTING
CONDITIONS PLAN

S-1

0 10' 20'

MONADNOCK
FOOD CO-OP
EXPANSION

CYPRESS ST.
DEVELOPMENT, LLC
C/O MEDC

LEGEND
P:

\p
ro

je
ct

\K
26

10
 M

ED
C-

Co
-o

p 
Ex

pa
ns

io
n\

Dw
g\

K2
61

0-
SI

TE
4.

dw
g,

 1
2/

8/
20

17
 1

1:
02

:4
3 

AM

Page 35 of 47






GENERAL
LAYOUT
PLAN

C-1

0 20' 40'

MONADNOCK
FOOD CO-OP
EXPANSION

CYPRESS ST.
DEVELOPMENT, LLC
C/O MEDC

P:
\p

ro
je

ct
\K

26
10

 M
ED

C-
Co

-o
p 

Ex
pa

ns
io

n\
Dw

g\
K2

61
0-

SI
TE

4.
dw

g,
 1

2/
8/

20
17

 1
1:

02
:4

8 
AM

Page 36 of 47






PROPOSED
SITE PLAN

C-2

0 10' 20'

MONADNOCK
FOOD CO-OP
EXPANSION

CYPRESS ST.
DEVELOPMENT, LLC
C/O MEDC

LEGENDLEGEND
P:

\p
ro

je
ct

\K
26

10
 M

ED
C-

Co
-o

p 
Ex

pa
ns

io
n\

Dw
g\

K2
61

0-
SI

TE
4.

dw
g,

 1
2/

8/
20

17
 1

1:
02

:5
3 

AM

Page 37 of 47






PROPOSED
GRADING AND
EROSION
CONTROL PLAN

C-3

0 10' 20'

MONADNOCK
FOOD CO-OP
EXPANSION

CYPRESS ST.
DEVELOPMENT, LLC
C/O MEDC

LEGEND
P:

\p
ro

je
ct

\K
26

10
 M

ED
C-

Co
-o

p 
Ex

pa
ns

io
n\

Dw
g\

K2
61

0-
SI

TE
4.

dw
g,

 1
2/

8/
20

17
 1

1:
02

:5
8 

AM

Page 38 of 47






CONSTRUCTION
DETAILS

C-4

MONADNOCK
FOOD CO-OP
EXPANSION

CYPRESS ST.
DEVELOPMENT, LLC
C/O MEDC

P:
\p

ro
je

ct
\K

26
10

 M
ED

C-
Co

-o
p 

Ex
pa

ns
io

n\
Dw

g\
K2

61
0-

SI
TE

4.
dw

g,
 1

2/
8/

20
17

 1
1:

03
:0

2 
AM

Page 39 of 47



Page 40 of 47



Page 41 of 47



Page 42 of 47



Page 43 of 47



Page 44 of 47



Page 45 of 47



Page 46 of 47



Page 47 of 47


	Eversource Packet.pdf
	Supp_2_SR-FINAL
	Packet plan set

	CoOp Packet.pdf
	SR_FINAL
	12-08-17 Co-Op Addt'l Info
	12-08-17 Co-Op Addt'l Info
	12-08-17 Co-Op Addt'l Info
	Co-Op Plan Packet Set
	11-17 Exterior color elevations
	12-08-17 Co-Op Addt'l Info

	CoOp Packet.pdf
	SR_FINAL
	12-08-17 Co-Op Addt'l Info
	12-08-17 Co-Op Addt'l Info
	12-08-17 Co-Op Addt'l Info
	Co-Op Plan Packet Set
	11-17 Exterior color elevations
	12-08-17 Co-Op Addt'l Info




